BRING IT ON BRUM 2022

An Evaluation of Birmingham's HAF Programme

February 2023

Authors: Professor Greta Defeyter, Professor Paul Stretesky, Dr Jackie Shinwell



Northumbria University NEWCASTLE







PlayStation

Contents

| Executive Summary |
|---|
| Chapter 1: Review of Existing literature on HAF and holiday clubs in the UK |
| 1.1 The need for Holiday Activities and Food (HAF) |
| 1.2 Household Food Insecurity and Dietary Intake |
| 1.3 Holiday Hunger |
| 1.4 Health and Wellbeing of Children and Parents10 |
| 1.5 Poverty, Food Insecurity and Educational Attainment1 |
| 1.6 Childcare12 |
| 1.7 The benefits of HAF/Holiday Clubs13 |
| Chapter 2: Bring it on Brum Evaluation 2022 |
| 2.1 The Evaluation |
| 2.1.2 Aims, Objectives and Research Questions20 |
| 2.1.3 Aims and Objectives: |
| 2.1.4 Research Questions: |
| 2.1.5 Design |
| 2.2 Surveys |
| 2.3 Ethics |
| 2.4 Methods2 |
| Chapter 3: Impact Evaluation Findings24 |
| 3.1 Parent Survey24 |
| 4. Conclusion and Recommendations for Future Delivery42 |
| References4 |

Executive Summary

The Healthy Living Lab was commissioned by StreetGames to evaluate Birmingham City Council's Holiday Activities and Food (HAF) programme, named 'Bring it on Brum' through the administration of a large-scale parent survey and a large-scale holiday club leader survey. This was the largest Local Authority HAF programme in England in 2022, and aimed to address childhood food insecurity, physical inactivity, social isolation, mental wellbeing, childcare needs, learning and skills development amongst vulnerable children and young people in Birmingham. Following DfE guidance, a specific aim was to increase uptake of the programme by free school meal children. Where appropriate, comparisons have been drawn between the outcomes of this year's evaluation with the outcomes of the Bring it on Brum evaluation conducted in 2021. In addition, where appropriate, outcomes are compared to a control group of parents whose child/children did not attend Bring it on Brum.

Desktop analysis of management information showed a continued high demand and uptake of Bring it on Brum, with 151 providers having delivered 277 clubs. Although there was a decrease in the number of providers (151 versus 243) there no change in the number of holiday clubs (277 versus 278) delivering the programme compared to 2021. Overall, 'Bring it on Brum' reached 26,101 eligible children (75% FSM) generating 162,556 attendances. The data, split according to primary and secondary school aged children, showed that the vast majority of attendees were primary school aged children (n =21,142) with far fewer secondary school aged children in attendance (n=4959). Clubs were run by a mixture of community organisations, leisure centres, youth services, children's services, schools, and some commercial operators, with a 16 % increase in the number of schools engaging with the programme, and a 11% increase in SEND provision between 2021 and 2022. Clubs delivered a wide range of physical activities and enrichment activities, food and trips for children and young people. The increase in SEND provision is important in terms of equality, diversity and inclusion but has cost and resource implications in terms of delivery at the local level.

Parent Survey

A large-scale survey was sent to all parents and carers of children attending Bring it on Brum and to all holiday club leads. Analysis showed clear evidence that Bring it on Brum delivered a range of positive outcomes for children, parents/carers, and local communities. Given the recent cost of living and the steep increase in food prices that have contributed to a nationwide increase in the number of households experiencing food insecurity we analysed attendance data according to © Northumbria University household food insecurity and free school meal eligibility and compared these data to a national sample of parents whose children did not attend HAF. The data clearly show that for both groups household food insecurity has increased, and time spent at Bring it on Brum is dependent on free school meal eligibility and household food insecurity. Time spent at Bring it on Brum is also correlated with parent's perceptions of affordable childcare over the summer, and children's level of physical activity. Overall, stress is lower for parents whose children attend Bring it on Brum, in comparison with no club attendance and other childcare settings, but parental stress is not correlated with the hours that children attend clubs. We gathered data on parent's perceptions of the benefits of Bring it on Brum and compared these data to data collected in 2021. Analysis showed no difference in the proportion of parents that "agree" that clubs Prevent Social Isolation, Raise Aspirations, or Boosts Confidence in their children, meaning that there is not yearly change in parents' perceptions about clubs on these indicators. However, there was a significant decline in the proportion of parents who agreed that Bring it on Brum increases School Readiness. Over 75% or parents believe that Bring it on Brum helps prevent Anti-Social behaviours, a similar finding to the findings reported in 2021. Parents have positive perceptions about Bring it on Brum staff, and the percentage of parents who believe that staff have good relationship with children remained constant between 2021 (76%) and 2022 (76%). Likewise, the percentage of parents who think that staff deal with behavioural problems effectively remained constant (65% in 2022 compared to 64% in 2021). However, there was a significant increase in the number of parents reporting that they were more confident in leaving their children with staff (81% om 2002 versus 75% in 2021). Parent's perceptions of the food on offer at clubs improved overall, although parents thought their children had fewer opportunities to try new foods and to engage in hands on cooking experiences.

Holiday Club Leader Survey

The club leader survey showed that the majority of clubs (98%) were either very prepared or somewhat prepared to deliver Bring it on Brum. The range of children clubs targeted is particularly pleasing with 27% clubs specifically targeting 'looked after children', 30% of clubs targeting children with an Education, Health and Care plan, and 30% of children assessed as being in need. These outcomes are comparable to the findings reported in 2021. Ninety-Eight percent of clubs surveyed planned to deliver Bring it on Brum in 2023. Most clubs aim to support primary school aged children and children living in areas of high deprivation, although there appears to have been a slight increase in secondary provison. Clubs sourced food from local supermarkets (32%), central meal provision organised by Street Games (39%), a catering company organised at club level (37%), and 7% used © Northumbria University 3

charity food aid provision. Overall, holiday club leaders rated the food served at club as good (M = 7.8, on a scale of 0-10), with club catered sourced food rated as better than the food sourced by Street Games/Birmingham City Council. In terms of food waste, holiday club leaders reported very little food waste; a marked improvement on the food waste data reported in 2021.

Summary:

Bring it on Brum is an excellent programme that offers good value for money. It is highly regarded by leaders in delivery organisations and by parents. During the current cost of living crisis, it is a programme that provides much needed support in terms of food, physical activity, and socialisation. Many families would be unable to partake in all these important activities without Bring it on Brum. Overall, this programme provides invaluable support to families in terms of physical, emotional and social support, bringing together families within communities through activities and food.

Acknowledgements:

The authors would like to thank all the holiday club leaders and parents who completed the surveys.

Chapter 1: Review of Existing literature on HAF and holiday clubs in the UK

Chapter 1 will present an updated collation of peer-reviewed articles and the 'grey' literature on the implementation and impact of the Holiday Activities and Food (HAF) programme with reference to the wider context under which HAF currently operates. The review will begin by providing contextual information in relation to poverty in the UK and examine the need for HAF. This review will then explore the current literature on the implementation and delivery of holiday clubs in deprived communities across the UK and conclude by discussing peer-reviewed studies on the impact of HAF/holiday club attendance for children, their families, and communities.

1.1 The need for Holiday Activities and Food (HAF)

1.1.1 Background:

In the UK, approximately 4.3 million children are living in poverty. Evidence published by the Food Foundation (2017) suggests that the UK leads all of Europe (by a significant margin) when it comes to childhood hunger (see also (Lambie-Mumford & Sims, 2018). Nearly one in ten UK children face severe food insecurity, a term that is often used technically and summarised numerically to measure the availability and accessibility of adequate food, which is more than double the rate in most other European countries such as Italy, Portugal, Greece, Slovenia, Spain, Hungry and Latvia (The Food Foundation, 2017, p. 4). Furthermore, the level of food insecurity in the UK has also worsened in recent years, particularly following the outbreak of COVID in 2019 (Loopstra, 2020; Loopstra et al., 2019), with 41% of children eligible for free school meals (FSM) experiencing some level of food insecurity during the coronavirus pandemic lockdown (Goudie & McIntyre, 2021). Children have also experienced disruption to their education and social environment with numerous reports showing an increase in poor dietary habits, poor mental health and wellbeing and a reduction in physical activity (Bates et al., 2020; Brooks et al., 2020; Defeyter et al., 2020; James et al., 2021; Van Lancker & Parolin, 2020). There is emerging evidence that suggests that inequality has widened even further as a result of the Covid pandemic, with the financial situation of almost 4.7 million households deteriorating(Collard et al., 2021) and modelling data suggesting that the position of many households is going to deteriorate even further in 2022.

Within the context of UK childhood hunger, the problem of "holiday hunger" has recently gained attention among politicians, the media and the public. The phrase holiday hunger has been used extensively by the British media (e.g., "Holiday hunger should be the shame of this government and it isn't"-The Guardian (Foster, 2018); "They hadn't eaten all day: food banks tackle holiday hunger – The Guardian (Perraudin, 2018) "Emma Thompson: my fight to end Easter holiday hunger for 4m © Northumbria University

British schoolchildren" - The Times (Griffiths, 2019); "Nearly four in five teachers say holiday hunger is failing to improve" -- Independent (Osborne, 2018); "School holiday hunger: Parents 'living on cereal', says MP"- The BBC (2019). Despite the widespread use of this term, it is not always clear what it means. In our book, titled "Holiday hunger in the UK", we define holiday hunger "as a situation that occurs when economically disadvantaged households with school-aged children experience food insecurity during the school holidays (Long et al., 2022)

Holiday clubs, managed by local organisations, are a response to holiday hunger in the UK (Mann et al., 2018). In 2017, the All-Party-Parliamentary Group on School Food asked the Healthy Living Lab to map holiday provision across the UK to gain an understanding of what was being done about holiday hunger at the local level. The researchers found hundreds of holiday clubs had been established across England and many existed to provide support to children living in disadvantaged areas (Mann et al., 2018). Until recently, holiday clubs were largely viewed as spaces for feeding children during the summer (Mann et al., 2018). Emerging research shows, however, that these clubs offer communities a means to organise and provide a variety of material goods, services and information to children, caregivers, parents, volunteers, and staff (Stretesky, Defeyter, Long, Sattar, et al., 2020).

Research shows that holiday clubs provide children with a safe place to be physically active during the summer (Mann, 2019; Shinwell, 2019; Shinwell et al., 2021). Holiday clubs may prepare pupils for return to school, aid parents with childcare so that they can continue to work in paid employment during the school holidays, increase the wellbeing of children and parents and provide communities with the opportunity of improving dietary intake(Crilley, 2021; Defeyter et al., 2015a, 2019; Holley & Mason, 2019; Long, Stretesky, et al., 2020; Mann et al., 2020; Morgan, McConnon, et al., 2019a; Shinwell, 2019; Shinwell et al., 2021; Stretesky, Defeyter, Long, Ritchie, et al., 2020; Stretesky, Defeyter, Long, Sattar, et al., 2020). Holiday clubs have even been found to signpost parents to resources and other community services, such as healthcare, financial services, and housing advice (Long et al., 2022; Mann, 2019; Shinwell, 2019; Stretesky, Defeyter, Long, Sattar, et al., 2020). In short, it is clear that holiday clubs do more than simply feed children.

More recently, the Department for Education (DfE) recognised the need for holiday provision to provide children with access to activities and nutritious food and funded several pilot Holiday Activities and Food (HAF) projects, commencing in 2018. This involved local authorities recruiting community organisations to deliver free, healthy food and activities for children during the school summer holidays. Following an evaluation of a number of HAF pilot projects, the DfE announced an expansion of the HAF programme across all 151 higher-tier Local Authorities in England in 2021, at a cost of approximately £220M p.a. (Department for Education, 2021a). The four main aims of HAF are © Northumbria University 6

1) to improve the nutrition of children who are eligible for benefits-related FSM, in the holidays, 2) To increase healthy behaviours (e.g., participation in physical and enriching activities), 3) To improve school readiness, and 4) To improve parent's confidence and behaviour around purchasing and preparing healthy meals on as sustainable basis (Department for Education, 2021a). The HAF programme is free for children who receive benefits-related free school meals. Whereas any children not eligible for and in receipt of means-tested free school meals can also attend but they should pay to do so, or their places paid for by alternative funding. Local authorities can either coordinate their local HAF programme themselves or work with another organisation to coordinate the provision on their behalf (Department for Education, 2021a). Notably, HAF 2021 was larger in terms of funding and scope to prior HAF programmes and included some new programme outcomes; including engaging families in nutritional education, budgeting, providing better referral systems to other services, and offering increased flexibility in the funding terms for Local Authorities to provide HAF for a week during the Easter and Christmas holidays.

1.2 Household Food Insecurity and Dietary Intake

In the UK the terms "food insecurity", "food poverty" and "hunger" are often used interchangeably to describe those who meet the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations definition of food insecurity, defined as: "the inability to acquire or consume an adequate quality or sufficient quantity of food in socially acceptable ways, or the uncertainty that one will be able to do so" (FAO, 2015, p. 53). The Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) further categorises food insecurity as mild, moderate or severe (FAO, 2015). Those suffering mild food insecurity worry about their ability to obtain food, moderate food insecurity occurs when people start compromising on the quality and variety of food they eat and reduce the quantity of food they consume, and severe food insecurity occurs when people experience hunger (FAO, 2015). Current estimates from the FAO suggest that 10.4% of the UK population, some 8.4m people over the age of 15 years, live in moderately or severely food insecure households, with approximately half experiencing the most severe form of food insecurity, and 20% living in homes that lack the funds to purchase food. Furthermore, one in five children under the age of 15 years are estimated to live in households where there isn't enough money to buy food, with 4% of UK children not eating three meals a day (Pereira et al., 2017). Furthermore, the level of food insecurity in the UK has worsened in recent years (Loopstra, Reeves & Tarasuk, 2019; Loopstra, 2020), with 41% of children eligible for FSM experiencing some level of food insecurity during the coronavirus lockdown (Goudie & McIntyre, 2021). A more detailed discussion on this topic in relation to HAF can be found in Long, Defeyter & Stretesky (2022).

Dowler et al., (2001) identified three main factors that influence food (in)security status: (i) affordability of food and sufficient income to purchase food; (ii) accessibility of shops to buy a range © Northumbria University 7

of food at a reasonable price; and (iii) knowledge of food and food skills. Because low-income households spend a greater proportion of their income on food compared to better off families, the price of food has a significant impact on low-income families' food purchasing abilities. An analysis of the cost of complying with the UK Government's food-based guidelines contained in the Eatwell Guide indicated that low-income families would need to spend nearly three quarters of their income on food (Scott et al., 2018). Whilst low-income families considered a healthy diet was important, and 60% of parents and carers indicated that they would change their children's diets and buy more fruit and vegetables, their lack of income meant they were unable to do so.

Likewise, analysis of data contained in the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (2020) found that consumption of fruit and vegetables was below the 5-A-Day recommendation in all groups and oily fish consumption was well below the recommendation. Furthermore, intakes of free sugars exceeded recommendations in all age groups and only 4% children met recommended fibre intake. These findings broadly align with prior results of this survey, but it is important to note that the survey was not administered as the height of lockdown and other surveys report a deterioration in children's dietary intake, especially children in low-income households (e.g. (James et al., 2021).

Recent research conducted in Northern Ireland suggests that household food insecurity may be a dynamic process and that people may move in, out and along the continuum of household food insecurity (Shinwell et al., 2021). For some families, experiencing household food insecurity may be cyclical, for example towards the end of the month when money is low, whilst for others, a shock to their income such as losing their job, increased energy prices, or a relationship breakdown may result in experiencing episodes of food insecurity. A range of tactics are adopted by people to cope with having insufficient money for food. This includes, at the most basic level, shopping in multiple stores for food to take advantage of special offers to make money go further and eating food of poorer nutritional value. However, as the level of food insecurity becomes more severe, tactics change to seeking (and reciprocating) support from friends and family, to cutting down food portion sizes and parents and carers often, and children occasionally, skipping meals altogether (Gooseman et al., 2019b; Shinwell & Defeyter, 2021). However, the strategy of last resort used by many facing household food insecurity is to seek support from a food bank (Loopstra & Tarasuk, 2015; Shinwell & Defeyter, 2021).

1.3 Holiday Hunger

There is evidence of low-income families being at risk of experiencing holiday hunger in the UK. Oral evidence presented to the APPG on Hunger in 2017, showed that that during the summer, food shopping bills of parents whose children receive free school meals increase by an average of £30-40

per week and that parents will often compromise on the quality of food they eat, will eat their children's leftovers and skip meals in order to cope with the extra pressure of the summer break (Andrew Forsey, 2017). This evidence reflects earlier research which highlighted that during the school holidays food shopping bills increased and parents compromised on the quality of food they bought, relying on offers in supermarkets to feed their children which often meant buying food of a lower nutritional quality (Defeyter et al., 2015a; Gill & Sharma, 2004). However, it is not only children who are eligible for FSM that are at risk of experiencing holiday food insecurity, the oral evidence to the APPG on Hunger highlighted that up to 2 million children from families whose parents "work for their poverty" may also be going hungry in the holidays (Forsey, 2017).

The risk of low-income families experiencing food insecurity during the school holidays was further reinforced by a pilot study by (Long et al., 2017). Using the six-item food insecurity questionnaire, developed in the USA, to identify households experiencing food insecurity, this research examined the food (in)security status of parents (N=38) attending holiday provision clubs alongside their children in Wales. The findings established that 58% (N=22) of parents identified as food secure, 18% (N=7) as food insecure without hunger and 24% (N=9) as food insecure with hunger (Long et al., 2017). All parents, from both food secure and food insecure households, agreed that they spend more on food during the summer holidays than during term time and some parents reported that without a summer holiday club, they would not have been able to afford to buy food during the summer. Importantly, the researchers found that holiday clubs disproportionately help food insecure households and attenuate food insecurity for these families.

Similarly, more than 90% of parents (N=72), in a mixed methods study examining the experiences of food insecure families in London, reported that in the previous year, they had worried about having enough money for food and had run out of food (Harvey, 2016). Parents also reported that they could not afford to buy healthy food for their children and had reduced their food intake and had skipped meals so that their children could eat. Nonetheless, despite parents' best efforts to protect their children from food insecurity, in qualitative interviews conducted with children (N=19) in the same study, children indicated that they were aware that there was not enough money for food at home and that they had gone to bed hungry. Children also reported that they were more likely to miss meals during the weekends and holidays when school meals and after school clubs were not available. Furthermore, teachers in the UK have also reported that they are aware that low-income families struggle during the summer holidays. In a survey conducted by the NUT teaching union, more than half of the 619 respondents said there were children in their school who did not get

enough to eat during the summer holidays and the number of children who were affected was increasing (National Union of Teachers, 2017).

1.4 Health and Wellbeing of Children and Parents

Under the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, signatory states are required to ensure a standard of living of every child that is adequate for their physical, mental, spiritual, moral and social development (The UN Convention of the Rights of the Child, 2003). Nevertheless, a recent review of food insecurity in advanced capitalist nations shows that it is widely recognised that insufficient household income is associated with negative outcomes for children and adults across all domains including mental and physical health, life expectancy, social wellbeing, cognition, and educational attainment (Long et al., 2020).

A survey conducted by the Royal College of Paediatricians and Child Health (RCPCH) and Child Poverty Action Group (CPAG), highlighted that 99.6% of paediatricians (N=265) considered poverty contributes to the ill health of a child (RCPCH & CPAG, 2017). Moreover, families living in poverty have insufficient income to obtain a healthy diet. Nutritionally poor food tends to be cheaper and have higher fat and / or sugar content than more healthy food items. It is, therefore, unsurprising that there is a greater prevalence of overweight and obese children in the poorest families (Donkin & Marmot, 2016). Using data from the Millennium Cohort Study, (Goisis et al., 2015) examined longitudinal data of children aged 5 years and 11 years (N=9,384). Their findings illustrate that the prevalence of obesity is considerably higher amongst poorer children than their more affluent peers. While there was no evidence of an association between household income and weight of the child at age 5 years, there were emerging inequalities by age 11 years, and a poor diet and lack of physical activity are contributing risk factors (Goisis et al., 2015). Moreover, high levels of obesity in children are associated with poorer health outcomes in adulthood; obesity and being overweight are linked to a wide range of diseases including diabetes, asthma, hypertension, cancer, heart disease and stroke (Marmot, 2010; Public Health England, 2015). Finally, a recent study published in the BMJ (Open) shows an increase in infant mortality with body weight status. However, this sustained and unprecedented rise in infant mortality in England from 2014-2017 has not been experienced evenly across the population. In the most deprived local authorities, the previously declining trend in infant mortality reversed and mortality rose, leading to an additional 24 infant deaths per 100,000 live births per year, relative to the previous trend (Taylor-Robinson et al., 2019a). The findings suggest that about a third of the increases in infant mortality between 2014 and 2017 may be attributed to rising child poverty, equivalent to an extra 172 infant deaths (Taylor-Robinson et al., 2019b).

Whilst growing up in poverty can have a negative impact on a child's physical and mental health, there exists an association between household income and children's outcomes in terms of cognitive, social, and emotional behavioural development (Cooper & Stewart, 2017). Moreover, a qualitative study conducted with children living in poverty in the UK illustrated that a limited household income restricts children's access to services and opportunities, and these have a wider impact on their social relations (Ridge, 2002). Children find it difficult to form friendships and fear social exclusion as they are unable to share similar experiences with their friendship groups. (Ridge, 2013) further argues that childhood is becoming increasingly commodified and the participation of children in social activities and clubs is controlled by the cost of the activities and other factors including access and transport. Children living in poverty are often confined to their neighbourhoods which frequently lack adequate and affordable resources and opportunities to be able to socialise with their friends. Thus, according to Ridge (2002, 2013) poverty is a localised experience and children from disadvantaged families are restricted to what is available within their neighbourhood.

1.5 Poverty, Food Insecurity and Educational Attainment

As discussed above, children growing up in low-income households are likely to have a poor diet and are more likely to be overweight or obese with associated poorer health outcomes both physically, mentally, and socially compared to their more affluent peers. Research has investigated the effect of living in food insecure households on the educational attainment and social and emotional well-being of children. (Johnson & Markowitz, 2018) analysed data on the results of 3,700 children's reading and maths skills using tests specially designed for the Early Childhood Longitudinal-Birth (ECLS-B) study and teachers' analysis of children's social and emotional well-being. Data on parental levels of household food insecurity were collected at three time points (when children were aged nine months, when they were two years of age and when they started kindergarten) using the USA Household Food Security Survey Module (HFSSM). The authors found that children who experienced food insecurity performed less well both academically, socially, and emotionally than children who were food secure. Furthermore, children who experienced repeated episodes of household food insecurity, and the greater the frequency of exposure to household food insecurity, the less well children performed in tests.

Using data on children in receipt of FSM as a proxy for disadvantage, data from National Pupil Database (NPD) which contains data on children's performance in tests and teacher assessments when they start school, at Key Stages 1 and 2 and GCSE exam results, researchers found that by the time children reach the age of 16 years, children who were in receipt of free school meals were 24.3 months behind children who did not (Andrews et al., 2017). More recent analysis of the data in the © Northumbria University 11 NPD and FSM recipient status suggests that at the current rate of progress, it will take more than 500 years to narrow the gap in attainment between children from different socio-economic backgrounds (Hutchinson et al., 2019).

1.6 Childcare

An additional challenge for families during the school holidays is childcare provision. A survey of leaders of holiday clubs, located in deprived communities across the UK (N=325), illustrated that along with the need for food provision, childcare provision and a safe place for children to play formed the top three needs for their communities during the school holidays (Mann, 2019). The Childcare Act 2006 requires local authorities in England and Wales to ensure sufficient childcare is available for parents with children up to the age of 14 years. Nevertheless, a recent survey carried out by Family Childcare Trust (2019) illustrated that there is a lack of affordable holiday clubs and shortages of childcare across some regions of the UK. The most notable gaps in provision are for children aged 12 years or over, for families living in rural areas and for children with special education needs and disabilities (Cottell et al., 2019). The need for childcare provision during the school holidays was further highlighted in a survey of head teachers of primary and secondary schools in England: 39% (N=424) of head teachers stated that parents and carers require access to holiday clubs to support their working and caring commitments during the school holidays (Diss & Jarvie, 2016). Yet, despite the perceived need for holiday provision, only 29% (N=315) of schools offer additional provision during the school holidays with head teachers citing funding and lack of staffing capacity as the main barriers to providing holiday provision for families (Diss & Jarvie, 2016). The challenge of sourcing adequate and affordable childcare provision during the school holidays has been highlighted by a survey conducted by CPAG in Scotland (2015). The survey of parents (N=223) living in Glasgow cited the high cost of childcare provision as one of the main challenges of the school holidays, with many out of school providers oversubscribed or unavailable across all regions of the city (Butcher, 2015). Moreover, a recent investigation by a joint Department for Work and Pensions and Education Select Committee of the House of Commons into poverty during the school summer holiday period heard evidence from parents who said that the requirement to pay child care costs up front and then claim them back through Universal Credit prevented them from being able to work during the summer holiday period and the absence of FSM meant they relied on food aid from food banks to feed their children during the summer holidays (House of Commons, 2019).

A survey commissioned by the Family and Childcare Trust highlighted that families adopt a number of approaches to address their childcare needs in the school holidays, which include: using formal childcare provided by local authorities and the private sector; using informal holiday camps and © Northumbria University activities; adopting shift parenting by using the annual leave of both parents to cover holidays; using informal care provided by extended families and friends; and committing to term time only work (Cottell & Fiaferana, 2018). Moreover, while childcare is a constant challenge for some families, the length of the school summer holiday creates a significant challenge for families to be able to source affordable and consistent childcare, which in turn creates additional financial and emotional pressures for families.

1.7 The benefits of HAF/Holiday Clubs

The previous section discussed several factors regarding the need for HAF during the school holidays. In this section, studies focussing on the multi-faceted benefits of participating in holiday clubs will be discussed. A number of studies have shown that the provision of food at holiday clubs has the potential to make a difference to family food and finances by alleviating financial strains on household budgets (Defeyter et al., 2015a; Graham et al., 2016; Morgan, Melendez-Torres, et al., 2019; Shinwell & Defeyter, 2021; Stretesky, Defeyter, Long, Ritchie, et al., 2020). Other studies have shown, holiday provision has the potential to reduce the risk of families experiencing household food insecurity, which has been discussed earlier in this literature review (Holley et al., 2019; Long et al., 2018), and improving children's dietary intake (Crilley et al., 2022; Mann, 2019; Shinwell, 2019). In addition, holiday provision offers numerous additional resources that improve the wellbeing for parents, children, volunteers, and staff (Defeyter et al., 2018b; Stretesky, Defeyter, Long, Sattar, et al., 2020). A summary of peer-reviewed research on the impact of attendance at holiday provision in the UK is presented below in Table 1.

In addition to the published academic literature on holiday provision, there are several third sector reports that focus on various outcomes for families and the communities in which these clubs operate. Many of these case studies feature in Holiday Hunger in the UK: Local Responses to Childhood Food Insecurity (Long, Defeyter & Stretesky, 2022). Details of example holiday programmes, abstracts of research and policy papers can be found in Holiday Programmes: Activity and Food at https://www.northumbria.ac.uk/takeontomorrow/it-is-time/holiday-activity-and-food-programmes. Further details on how holiday clubs have adjusted their mode of delivery as a result of Covid social distancing rules are emerging in the literature (Bayes et al., 2021; Long, Defeyter & Stretesky, 2022), as are a number of case studies detailing approaches to holiday provision during Covid by the Governments of England, Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland (Long, Defeyter & Stretesky, 2022). Finally, little is known about the modes of delivering nutritional education within HAF (Round et al., 2021).

Table 1. Summary of peer-reviewed research on the impact of attendance at holiday provision in the UK

| Author, year | Aim of study | Sample | Data | Context | Key findings |
|---------------------|--|---------------------------|------------|----------------------|--|
| | | | collection | | |
| Defeyter et al., | To determine the impacts of holiday | Children: N=17; Parents/ | Semi- | North West England | A need for holiday food provision and revealed a |
| (2015) | breakfast club participation and investigate | Carers: N=18; and Holiday | structured | and Northern Ireland | multitude of nutritional, social, and financial benefits |
| | potential areas for future development | club staff: N=15 | interviews | | for those who accessed holiday breakfast clubs. |
| Graham et al. | To examine the views of holiday club staff | Holiday club staff: N=14 | Semi- | Wales and South of | Families were perceived to be facing food insecurity |
| (2016) | on the need for and benefits of holiday | | structured | England | and isolation during the school holidays. Holiday |
| | food provision and potential areas for | | interviews | | clubs are a valuable source of support for children |
| | development | | | | and adults providing food, activities, and learning |
| | | | | | experiences. Highlighted areas for improvement in |
| | | | | | delivery of provision. |
| Shinwell & Defevter | To investigate whether summer learning | Children: N = 77 | WRAT 4 | England and Scotland | Performance in spelling declined when children |
| (2017) | loss in word reading and spelling occurs in | | | | returned to school after the summer holiday |
| () | primary school aged children living in areas | | | | However, after seven weeks of learning children |
| | of high deprivation in England and Scotland | | | | caught up and exceeded levels achieved in spelling |
| | | | | | prior to the summer break. Learning loss did not |
| | | | | | occur in relation to word reading. |
| Long et al., (2018) | To investigate if holiday clubs have the | Parents/carers: N=38 | Self- | Wales, South of | 42% (16 out of 38 respondents) of children come |
| | potential to reduce food insecurity among | | completing | England and Scotland | from households defined as "food insecure" and 24% |
| | households in the UK. | | survey | | (9 out of 38 respondents) come from households |
| | | | | | that are "food insecure with hunger." Holiday clubs |
| | | | | | can play an important role in mitigating household |
| | | | | | food insecurity. |

| Author, year | Aim of study | Sample | Data | Context | Key findings |
|-----------------------|--|----------------------------------|---------------|--------------------|---|
| | | | collection | | |
| Mann et al. (2018) | To investigate whether holiday clubs are | Holiday club staff: N = 428 | Self- | England and Wales | Holiday clubs are likely to be located in deprived |
| | serving the most deprived communities in | | completing | | areas where there are a high percentage of minority |
| | England and Wales | | online survey | | ethnic residents, low average income, high levels of |
| | | | | | childhood deprivation and unemployed single parent |
| | | | | | households |
| Defeyter et al | Policy paper on the government removing | N/A | | UK | Policy recommendations that the root cause of |
| (2019). | inequalities in children's access to holiday | | | | poverty should be addressed but that in the interim, |
| | clubs | | | | holiday provision should be universal and available |
| | | | | | during all school summer holidays and not just |
| | | | | | during the summer break. |
| Gooseman, | To investigate the existence, impact and | Primary school staff: N=12 | Semi- | North East England | Year-round hardship as well as holiday hunger exists. |
| Defeyter, & | potential solutions of holiday hunger | | structured | | The study identified a need for a multi-agency |
| Graham, (2019) | | | interviews | | approach to address the complex needs and provide |
| | | | | | support to families. |
| | | | | | |
| Holley et al., (2019) | To examine what opportunities are | Holiday hub leaders: <i>N=15</i> | Focus groups | UK | Benefits of holiday clubs include alleviation of food |
| | provided by community holiday sports | | x 2 | | insecurity; promoting engagement; encouraging |
| | clubs which include free food and | | | | healthy eating habits; promote positive behaviour. |
| | challenges of delivering food provision. | | | | Hub leaders highlighted challenges with delivering |
| | | | | | food provision. |

| Author, year | Aim of study | Sample | Data | Context | Key findings |
|---------------------|--|-----------------------------|---------------|--------------------|---|
| | | | collection | | |
| Morgan, | To examine opportunities for healthy | Child survey: N=196 | Mixed | Wales | Holiday clubs provide opportunities for healthy |
| McConnon, et al., | eating and physical activity and explore | Parent/carer survey: N=84 | methods | | eating: children consume fewer sugary snacks, fewer |
| (2019) | delivery processes in school-based holiday | Child focus groups: N=74 | | | sugary drinks and more fruit and vegetables |
| | clubs. | Parent focus groups: N=69 | | | compared to a non-club day. |
| | | Staff/volunteer interviews: | | | |
| | | N=32 | | | |
| Stretesky et al., | To determine the range of resources | Staff: N=35; Volunteers: | Semi- | North East England | Holiday clubs deliver a range of anti-poverty |
| n.d.) | offered by holiday clubs | N=29; Parents: N=77; | structured | | resources and services, and these are linked to the |
| | | Children: <i>N=220</i> | interviews | | staff networks and partnerships at the holiday clubs. |
| | | | and focus | | |
| | | | groups | | |
| | | | (children) | | |
| | | | | | |
| Stretesky et al | To investigate if there is an association | Parents: N = 252 | Self - | North East England | Parental experience of holiday hunger is associated |
| (2020). | between summer food insecurity and | | completing | | with high levels of parental stress, intrusive thoughts |
| | parental stress. | | questionnaire | | and avoidance behaviours. |
| Bayes et al (2021). | To investigate how holiday club leaders | Holiday club staff: N = 25 | Semi- | England and Wales | Holiday clubs introduced new ways of working to |
| | adapted their food provision and food | | structured | | ensure that food insecure households with children |
| | related enrichment activities during the | | interviews | | were able to access support including food aid & |
| | first UK Covid-19 pandemic lockdown | | | | enrichment activities during the first Covid-19 |
| | during summer 2020. | | | | national lockdown in summer 2020. |
| Long et al (2020). | To provide an overview of literature | N/A | Literature | | Governments in advanced capitalist states are more |
| | relating to food insecurity in advanced | | review | | likely to favour a neoliberalist approach to food |
| | capitalist nations. | | | | |

| Author, year | Aim of study | Sample | Data | Context | Key findings |
|---------------------|--|------------------------------|---------------|------------------|--|
| | | | collection | | |
| | | | | | insecurity with food aid-based solutions led by not- |
| | | | | | for- profit and charitable organisations. |
| Defeyter et al. | Feeding children during the Covid-19 | N/A | Policy & | UK | Parents of children who normally receive free school |
| (2020) | pandemic | | practice | | meals experienced difficulties in accessing and using |
| | | | review | | food vouchers to the value of ± 15 per child which |
| | | | | | were introduced during the Covid-19 pandemic. |
| Mann et al (2020). | To investigate the views of senior | Senior stakeholders: N = 15 | Semi | England | Cuts to welfare provision are impacting on family |
| | stakeholders regarding the need for and | | structured | | budgets and driving the need for holiday provision. |
| | barriers to effective holiday provision. | | interviews | | Multiple barriers inhibit the successful delivery of |
| | | | | | holiday provision which to a large extent, depends |
| | | | | | on using existing networks of community-based |
| | | | | | organisations. |
| Shinwell, Finlay & | To investigate the views of children and | Children: <i>N</i> = 34 | Semi- | Northern Ireland | Children were aware of the driving factors behind |
| Defeyter (2021) | young people regarding holiday club | | structured | | holiday provision including poverty and food |
| | programmes in Northern Ireland | | interviews | | insecurity but did not feel stigmatised by attending |
| | | | | | holiday clubs and welcomed the inclusive approach |
| | | | | | of holiday provision as a way of meeting and making |
| | | | | | new friends out with their normal friendship groups. |
| Mann et al. (2021). | To investigate how holiday club leaders in | Holiday club leaders: N = 53 | Self - | London | Holiday club leaders face significant challenges |
| | London source and buy food to be served | | completion | | sourcing and buying food, using multiple strategies |
| | in holiday club settings | | online survey | | and tactics to enable them to serve healthy meals to |
| | | | | | child holiday club attendees, Clubs rely heavily on |
| | | | | | donations from surplus food charities. |

| Author, year | Aim of study | Sample | Data | Context | Key findings |
|-------------------|--|-------------------------|--------------------------|---------|--|
| | | | collection | | |
| Long et al (2021) | To investigate the relationship between | Parents/carers: N = 133 | Self- North East England | | Holiday club attendance reduces social isolation for |
| | child holiday club attendance and parental | | completion | | families and promotes the development of |
| | mental wellbeing | | questionnaire | | relationships between parents and children |

Chapter 2: Bring it on Brum Evaluation 2022

Birmingham City Council received £8,029,880.00 to deliver the HAF programme in Birmingham, in 2022. The Council commissioned StreetGames as the co-ordinating organisation and Street Games commissioned the Healthy Living Lab, at Northumbria University to evaluate Bring it on Brum by administering a parent survey and a holiday club leader survey. While the survey administered in the 2021 evaluation of Bring it on Brum provided strong evidence of the impact of Bring it on Brum across a wide range of measures, made possible through the inclusion of a control group, no studies or reports have been published that have researched HAF outcomes over time. This is important as the outcomes reported in 2021 may be attributable to a novelty effect or may not be sustainable over time. To our knowledge, this is the first report to systematically conduct cross-sectional analysis over two years, enabling Birmingham City Council and Street Games to gain insight to change over time.

2.1 The Evaluation

To evaluate the impact of 'Bring it on Brum' the research team used the two online parent surveys, that had been co-produced in consultation with a Participant Involvement and Engagement Steering Group in 2021, to compare HAF attendees to non-HAF attendees. Both surveys are tried and tested and have good face and construct validity and reliability. One parent survey was distributed to all parents and caregivers with children attending Bring it on Brum, whilst another other parent survey was distributed to a matched group of parents and caregivers, in terms of gross household income, whose children who did not attend Bring it on Brum.

The parents and caregivers with children who did not attend Bring it on Brum were composed of two groups: (1) those with children who did not attend any type of childcare outside of the home and (2) those with children who attended non-HAF childcare. This second group of parents included those who sometimes paid significant sums of money for summer childcare. This design allowed the research team to allocate parent/caregivers into one of three groups according to: a) whether one child or more attended Bring it on Brum, b) whether one child or more attended other childcare during the school holiday, and c) whether children attended no form of holiday provision or childcare outside of the home. To reduce contamination across groups, and to ensure that parents were allocated to the correct group, a series of specific screening questions were employed.

In addition to evaluating differences between Bring it on Brum (HAF) and non-HAF attendees/families, the present evaluation also accounts for dose (i.e., the number of hours children attended Bring it on Brum or accessed another childcare setting). Assessing dose is important in

shaping policy and mechanism of delivery at a national and local level. That is, it may be the case that some children or youth only attended one day of Bring it on Brum while others attended multiple days over the course of the summer holiday. Accounting for variation in dose helps provide additional data on the impact of Bring it on Brum club attendance.

Both sets of parent surveys (Bring it on Brum and non-HAF) were asked the same set of questions, except that the parents with children attending Bring it on Brum were asked additional questions to evaluate their unique experience of Bring it on Brum in Birmingham. Across all participant groups, parents were asked to focus on one child within the family, determined by asking parents or carers to focus on their eldest child between 5-to 16-years of age. Participants with children attending Bring it on Brum were sampled through Bring it on Brum parent/caregiver email addresses provided when registering for Bring it on Brum. Street Games sent the online survey link to parents. The comparator group (excluding all families in Birmingham) were recruited through Prolific, an online survey platform frequently used by social science researchers. Given the Healthy Living Lab's past experience in evaluating Bring it on Brum we attempted to match the control group with the Bring it on Brum group, basing our calculations for last year's FSM Bring it on Brum attendees. However, based on management information and sample demographics, post intervention, Street Games targeting of FSM children proved effective, and it is notable that there is a marked increase, in our sample, from 65% in 2021 to 84% in 2022 in the percentage of parents whose child/children were eligible for FSM. Furthermore, there was a greater percentage of parents not in full time employment in the Bring it on Brum group compared to the other groups; again, a change from the data collected in 2021. This suggests that Bring it on Brum was effective in a) increasing the engagement of FSM children in the programme and b) attracting some of the most disadvantaged families in Birmingham (see Figures 1-3). However, we must acknowledge that despite our efforts, the groups in our samples are not matched in terms of demographic data; hence a degree of caution is required in making direct comparisons between groups.

2.1.2 Aims, Objectives and Research Questions

In terms of the evaluation, the research team decided to use the same surveys used in the 2021 evaluation of Bring it on Brum. The parental survey was used to compare attendees to a matched group of parents using other childcare provision and a group of parents using no club/childcare over the summer holiday period in 2022. Where possible, parent questionnaires incorporated standardised measures (e.g., the complete 6-item USDA measure of food security, the Warwick and Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale, the Global Perceived Stress Questionnaire). While the holiday club leader survey captured the views of holiday club leads on the effectiveness and delivery of Bring © Northumbria University 20 it on Brum at the local level. Using the same tried and tested surveys also enabled the research team to make comparison to the findings reported in 2021.

2.1.3 Aims and Objectives:

The main aim of this research study is to explore the impact of Bring it on Brum on a range of outcomes collected by a parent survey and a holiday club leader survey. The first objective of this study is to collect the views of holiday club leaders and parents on the perceived benefits of Bring it on Brum during the summer of 2022. The second objective of the study is to analyse quantitative data from the parent survey and the holiday club leader survey regarding the impact of Bring it on Brum on a number of outcomes, and to compare, where appropriate, data between 2021 and 2022 to assess change. The third objective is to compare data, where appropriate, to a control group of parents whose child/children did not attend Bring it on Brum.

2.1.4 Research Questions:

The following research questions were addressed:

- What was the impact of Bring it on Brum on children's health and wellbeing?
- What was the impact of Bring it on Brum on parents and caregiver's health and wellbeing?
- What are the views of holiday club leaders and parents on the perceived overall effectiveness of Bring it on Brum?
- Are there any notable differences in the data between 2021 and 2022?
- Are there any significant differences between the Bring it on Brum group and the control group?

2.1.5 Design

To address these key research questions, we administered an online parent survey and an online holiday club leader survey.

2.2 Surveys

The evaluation consisted of a parental survey to compare HAF attendees to two counterfactual groups. One group consisted of parents whose children attended Bring it on Brum, while the first counterfactual group were parents that used alternative childcare, and the second consisted of parents who did not access any childcare provision during the summer holiday 2022. The survey for the Bring it on Brum group also collected data on dose (number of hours attending club across the summer) and additional outcome measures. The research team either used standardised measures

or measures that the research team have used in the past and have published in peer-reviewed journals. The parent survey collected data on the following outcomes:

- Household food security was measured using the US Department of Agriculture "FS Scale" for a 30-day reference period (USDA Economic Research Services, 2020), recently validated by the UK Department of Work and Pensions for use in the Family Resources Survey (Department for Work and Pensions, 2021).
- Parental Stress was measured using a Global Perceived Stress Scale (Cohen et al., 1983)
- Childcare
- Children's Physical Activity

2.2.1 Bring it on Brum Parent Survey Only:

- Safety
- Anti-social behaviour
- Social Isolation
- Activities
- School Readiness
- Confidence
- Aspirations
- Registration/booking
- Food Provision

2.2.2 Holiday Club Leader Survey:

At the beginning of September 2022, an online holiday club leader survey link was sent to all holiday club leaders participating in Bring it on Brum. The survey asked questions on:

- How well prepared were you to deliver Bring it on Brum?
- How subscribed was your holiday club?
- Who did your club target?
- How do parent's/carers register?
- Where did you source your food?
- Quality of food provision
- Food waste
- Number of cooking sessions
- Number of physical activity sessions

2.3 Ethics

Full ethical approval for this research programme was obtained from the Faculty of Health and Life Science at Northumbria University (Number 33684). The Healthy Living Lab worked in partnership with Birmingham City Council and Street Games to ensure that all ethical protocols were followed, and all data protocols complied with GDPR.

2.4 Methods

All participants were recruited online. The Bring it on Brum sampling frame consisted of all parents/caregivers whose child(ren) attended a Bring it on Brum holiday club and who shared their email address with Street Games. Street Games sent an email to all parents/carers in the sampling frame asking them to participate in the research. That email contained a link to the survey. A total of N=1,339 parents agreed to participate in the research and completed the survey. These 1,339 parents/carers represented experiences at just over 100 different clubs across Birmingham. It is important to point out that not all Bring it on Brum parents/carers who filled out and returned the survey answered all survey questions. Thus, the statistical summaries for the Bring it on Brum sample are based only on items that participants answered. Descriptions of survey items presented in this report for the Bring it on Brum parents/carers are therefore dependent on the number of parents/carers who responded to that item. The Prolific sample was also recruited online and consisted of N=220 parents/carers whose children attended childcare other than Bring it on Brum during the school holiday and N=889 parents/carers whose children did not attend any form of holiday provision outside of the home. Parents and carers who completed the Bring it on Brum survey were given a chance to win a £500 Love2Shop gift voucher as a token of appreciation for their time. Prolific participants were compensated £2.50 for their time. Figures 1-3 (below) presents the demographic composition of each group. Once all data were collected from the Bring it on Brum and Prolific sample the data were coded, cleaned, and merged into a single file for reporting purposes.

The combined parents sample consisted of n = 2,447. This is over double the sample size of 2021 (n = 1,110). It should be noted that Northumbria University paid for the survey administration, hosting, data collection and analysis of the control groups. The Holiday club survey was completed by 57 holiday club leaders, from across 57 independent organisations. Holiday club leaders were given a chance to win two £250 Love2Shop vouchers as a token of appreciation for their time.

Chapter 3: Impact Evaluation Findings

3.1 Parent Survey

The data from the parent survey (n = 2,447) are presented according to group; a) Bring it on Brum group (n = 1,339), b) parents of children in other childcare settings (n = 220), and c) parents of children who received no summer holiday provision (n=888), and where appropriate by year and dose. Firstly, it should also be noted that 55.4% (95% CI, 50.7% to 60.1%) of Bring it on Brum parents said that 2022 was the first year that their child/children had attended Bring it on Brum (n=437). Secondly, a comparison of group demographics showed that the groups were not comparable in terms of FSM, ethnicity, and full-time employment. Indeed, the economic makeup of the Bring it on Brum households changed significant between 2021 and 2022. As was the case in 2021, Bring it on Brum households are much more diverse than households in other areas. The demographic differences between group are illustrated in Figures 1 - 3. Figure 1 clearly shows that the number of children attending Bring it on Brum who are eligible for free school meals has risen significantly.

Figure 1. Comparison of Free School Meal Status of Household (n =2,091) – Children Eligible for FSM attending Bring it on Brum between 2021-2022.



% Eligible For Free School Meals



Figure 2. Comparison (%) of Racial/Ethnic Status of Parent/Caregiver

Figure 3. Comparison of Parent/Caregiver Employment Status according to Group



3.1.2 Childcare

The parent/carer survey asked parents about how easy it was on a scale of 0 (not at all difficult) to 10 (extremely difficult) to find affordable childcare during the summer holiday 2021. As shown in Figure 4 parents across all groups struggle to find affordable childcare. Parents in the Bring it on Brum sample found it more difficult to access childcare provision for under 100 hours across the summer holiday, compared to the no club sample. Although there is some evidence that Bring it on Brum parents/carers found accessing childcare less difficult in 2022 than in 2021 (mean = 6.47 vs. 7.10). When parents accessed over 100 hours of childcare, the differences between the two groups were statistically significant (i.e., mean = 5.06 vs. mean = 6.5) suggesting that Bring it on Brum may play an important role in the so called, 'levelling up' agenda when parents can access over 100 hours of childcare across the summer holiday. Moreover, there was a significant correlation between © Northumbria University 25 hours attending Bring it on Brum and parents' perceptions of affordable childcare; as attendance in Bring it on Brum increased, so did parents' perceptions about being able to find affordable childcare. One hundred hours is approximately equivalent to 16 hours a week, which aligns to the DfE's 4 X 4 X 4 model. However, further research is required to ascertain the best model of delivery in terms of childcare provision and other key factors.





3.1.3 Parental Stress

Parental stress was measured using a Global Measure of Perceived Stress (Cohen, Kamarck, & Mermelstein (1983). The current findings support prior research from the Healthy Living Lab (Stretesky et al., 2020) in showing that overall stress is lower in the Bring it on Brum sample compared to the No Club sample. However, unlike the finding in 2021, in the current study there was no significant correlation between parental stress and hours of attending Bring it on Brum (r=-0.14, p<0.62; not significant; n=708)

Figure 5. Perceived Summer Stress Scores of Parents



Mean Percieved Parental Stress Score During the Last Month of Summer School Holidays (Low Stress Score = "0" and High Stress Score = "16")

3.1.4 Children's Physical Activity

The World Health Organisation (2020) defines physical activity as any bodily movement that requires energy expenditure including walking, running and playing sports. The Chief Medical Officers (2019) recommend participating in at least 60 minutes of moderate to vigorous-intensity physical activity every day. This can improve muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness and improve bone and functional health (World Health Organisation, 2020). Whereas, inactive behaviours, also referred to as sedentary behaviours, are defined by the Chief Medical Officers (2019) as undertaking little movement or activity and using little energy above what is used at rest. Given the range in opening times of clubs the researchers used the CMO recommendation of 60 minutes participation in MVPA per day for a minimum of 4 days per week, with a full explanation of MVPA provided to parents. Figure 6 clearly shows a significant positive correlation (r=0.39, p < 0.01; n = 817) between the number of hours attending Bring it on Brum and the number of weeks that children were engaged in MVPA (defined as at least 4 days a week for at least 60 mins a day). Analysis also showed a significant difference between Bring it on Brum and No Club attendance, with children participating in Bring it on Brum as engaging in more MVPA than the children in the No Club group. These data replicate the pattern of data reported in 2021.

Figure 6. Physical Activity Levels of Children During the Summer School Holidays



Mean Number of Weeks Children Physically Active During the 6 Week Summer Holiday (Defined as at least 4 days a week at leas 60 minutes a day)

3.1.5 Food Insecurity

Given that a key aim of HAF is the provision of at least one healthy meal to children during the school holiday, accompanied by the recent data demonstrating increasing levels of food insecurity in the UK, the research team measured household food security using the Six-item US Household Food Security Survey Module. Analysis showed an increased in the number of households experiencing food insecurity nationally and for those families whose children attended Bring it on Brum between 2021 and 2022 (see Figure 7 and Figure 8). Although there was an increase in household food insecurity for both groups, the level of food insecurity is higher in the Bring it on Brum sample (67%) compared to the national sample (58%). However, it is important to note the different demographics between samples. Notably, in 2021 approximately 66% of children attending Bring it on Brum were in receipt of means-tested FSM, but this percentage rose to approximately 75% in 2022, by contrast the percentage of children in receipt of means tested free school meals declined in the national sample (see Figure 1).

Figure 7. National Comparison in Food Insecurity During School Summer Holidays in 2021 and 2022.



% Households Earning Less than £20k Reporting Low Levels of Food Security During the Summer School Holidays

Note: Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals around the estimate (n=1,107); "Low Food Security" during the Summer School Holidays is measured using a self-administered and modified version of the Six-Item USDA Household Food Security Module; Diffe

Figure 8: Bring it on Brum Comparison in Food Insecurity During the Summer Holiday in 2021 and 2022.



% of BoB Households Reporting Low Levels of Food Security During the Summer School Holidays

Note: Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals around the estimate (n=753); "Low Food Security" during the summer school holiday is defined using a self-administered and modified version of the Six-Item USDA Household Food Security Module

To explore this finding in more detail, we conducted analyses to explore the association between time spent at Bring it on Brum, free school meal eligibility and household food insecurity (Figure 9). As shown in figure 9, time spent at Bring it on Brum is dependent on free school meal eligibility and household food insecurity.

Figure 9. Time spent at Bring it on Brum is Dependent on Free School Meal Eligibility and Household Food Insecurity.



Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals for estimate; (Pearson Chi-Square: Low Food Security (yes/no) by Time (4 categories) = 13.54; 3 df; p<0.05) Summer food security measured with modified version of USDA six-item HFSM

3.1.6 Bring it on Brum Additional Parents Questions

The Bring it on Brum survey contained additional questions to gather parent's (n=1,339) views on the holiday club(s) that their child/children attended. Where a family had multiple children attending Bring it on Brum, and the questions asked about individual child characteristics or outcomes, we asked parents to focus on their eldest child. As the number of parent responses varied according to question, we report the sample size for each outcome.

3.1.6.1 Parents Perceptions about Registering a Child/children for Bring it on Brum

Firstly, we were interested in finding out how parents had heard about Bring it on Brum. The findings showed that the largest proportion of parents/carers (37.3% in 2022 versus 45.8% in 2021). found out about Bring it on Brum from their child's school, although the percentage of parents hearing about Bring it on Brum from schools declined between 2021 to 2022. This decline between may reflect greater engagement by school in delivering Bring it on Brum, rather than acting purely as a referral point. Secondly, we were interested in whether their child/children had attended free holiday provision in the past, our data show that 55.4% (95% CI, 50.7 to 60.1% of Bring it on Brum parents said 2022 was the first year their children attended Bring it on Brum (n =437), suggesting that Bring it on Brum is reaching new families whom have not previously engaged with Bring it on

Brum. The survey also showed that 20.5% of families learnt about Bring it on Brum from past attendance (Table 2). A significant increase from 2021, when only 2.3% of families had learned about Bring it on Brum because they previously attended a free activity and holiday club.

| | Percentage |
|-------------------------------|------------|
| Child's School | 37.3 |
| Family/Friends/Neighbours | 10.2 |
| Bring it on Brum social media | 9.9 |
| Youth Centre of Charity | 19 |
| Local Council | 3.1 |
| Attended before | 20.5 |
| | |

Table 2. How parents/carers found out about Bring it on Brum (n= 1110)

In our sample (n=900), the majority of parents (85%) registered for Bring it on Brum via the Bring it on Brum website, with the remainder registering at the community venue. Regardless of the registration route, most parents reported (92%) that that registration process was easy.

Finally, we were interested in parents' perceptions about their child's/children's holiday club opening days and times. The descriptive findings showed that 68% of parents thought the opening days and times to be 'about right'; an increase of 22% on data in the 2021 evaluation.

3.1.6.2 Food

Although prior research has shown that parents perceptions about whether food adheres to the School Food Standards may be problematic, we wanted to collect parent's views on the food served at club as HAF affords the opportunity of improving dietary intake, increasing the range of food consumed, and opportunities for children to be engaged in hands on food preparation. To measure these outcomes, we asked parents to agree or disagree with the following statements in Table 3.

Table 3. Parent/caregiver perceptions about food during Bring it on Brum

| | % Agree |
|-----------------------------|---------|
| Club served nutritious food | 88.8 |
| Club served hultihous tood | 00.0 |
| | |
| © Northumbria University | |

| My child(ren) enjoyed club food | 76.7 |
|---|------|
| Child(ren) tried new foods at club | 31.2 |
| Child(ren) ate wider variety of foods at club | 31.3 |
| Club met food and dietary requirements | 67.7 |
| Opportunities at club for hands on food activities | 19.2 |
| Club improved child(ren) knowledge & confidence to prepare food | 11.2 |

Although there was an increase in the percentage of parents agreeing the holiday club served nutritious food, that their child(ren) enjoyed club food, and an increase in the percentage of parents agreeing that the club met food and dietary requirements; there was a decrease in the percentage of parents that thought their children tried new foods, ate a wider variety of foods, had opportunities for hands on food activities, and that club improved their child's knowledge and confidence to prepare food.

3.1.6.3 Safety

In terms of perceived safety, we compared the percentage of parents who agreed that their children were safe while attending Bring it on Brum compared to their local neighbourhood. The results clearly show that 71% or parents strongly agree that their children are safe whilst attending Bring it on Brum (a 10% increase compared to last year) versus 32% who strongly agree that their children are safe in their immediate neighbourhood. Together these findings show the parent's think their children are safer whilst attending Bring it on Brum and in their immediate neighbourhood.

Figure 10. Perceived safety during summer



Perceived Safety During Summer Holidays Percentage of Parents / Carers who Agree/Disagree that their Children are Safe in Neighborhoud and HAF Clubs (n=321)

3.1.6.4 Anti-social Behaviour

Some of the early research by the Healthy Living Lab showed that parents thought that holiday clubs kept children from participating in anti-social behaviour during the school holidays (Defeyter et al., 2015a, 2018a; Mann, 2019; Shinwell, 2019). These findings were replicated in the current study, with nearly 77% of parents strongly agreeing or agreeing that Bring it on Brum kept their children from participating in anti-social behaviour (see Figure 11). Overall, these findings are comparable with the findings of the Bring it on Brum evaluation conducted in 2021.

More than 75% of parents believe that Bring it on Brum help prevent anti-social behaviours (n-784). T-test analysis for difference between the proportion of parents that "Agree/Strongly Agree" to the question, "I believe that Bring it on Brum keeps my child/children from participating in anti-social behaviour during the school Holiday", between 2021 and 2022 are not statistically significant, indicating no change over time.

Figure 11. Perceived anti-social behaviour during summer.



"I Believe BoB Keeps My Child/ Children From Participating in Anti-Social Behaviour During the School Holiday" (%)

3.1.6.5 Parent reported benefits of Bring it on Brum

In addition to the above factors, the research team explored parents' perceptions about the social and psychological benefits for children afforded by attending Bring it on Brum. We compared data between 2021 and 2022. T-tests for differences between 2021 and 2022 I the proportion of parents that "Agree" that clubs Prevent Social Isolation, Raise Aspirations, and Boosts Confidence are not statistically significant, meaning that there is no yearly change in parents' perceptions about clubs on these indicators (Figure 12). The decline in parents who agreed that Bring it on Brum improved School Readiness was significant (t= 2.3(784) p < 0.05).

Figure 12. Parents perceptions of holiday clubs in terms of preventing social isolation, raising aspirations, boosting confidence, improving school readiness. For each series, the first column represents data from 2021 and the second column data from 2022.



3.1.6.6 Overall parent satisfaction

Overall parent satisfaction of parents whose children attended Bring it on Brum was measured by the likelihood of parents choosing to send their children to Bring it on Brum in 2022. Overall satisfaction of Bring it on Brum was very high, with 98% of parents reported that they were very likely to send their children to a Bring it on Brum in 2022, similar to last year's finding of 95%. We also analysed the percentage of parents who agreed that a) staff at the holiday club have good relationships with children, b) deal with behavioural problems effectively, and c) they are confident in leaving their children with staff (Figure 13).



Figure 13. Parents perceptions about Bring it on Brum 2021/2022 (n =822). For each series, the first column represents data from 2021 and the second column data from 2022.

3.2 Preparedness of Holiday Clubs

Firstly, we asked how prepared club leaders (n =57) were for Summer 2022 delivery of Bring it on Brum. The findings (see Figure 14) showed that nearly approximately 98% of clubs were either very prepared or somewhat prepared to deliver summer provision; an 8% increase on data reported in the 2021 evaluation, mainly driven by clubs moving from 'somewhat prepared' to 'very prepared'.





Note: n=16 clubs did not answer

3.2.1 Target Population

Next, we explored the population that clubs targeted. In terms of the target population, the majority of clubs aimed to serve a wide range of children. Encouragingly, clubs aimed to target their provision to accommodate a wide range of children (see Figure 15).

Figure 15. Target Population across clubs



Response to: "What range of children does your club aim to support(Summer 2022)? N=55

Note: most clubs aimed to support more than one type of child

3.2.3 Activities:

Most clubs offered a range of physical activities and enrichment activities to children. However, as shown in Table 4, the majority of physical activity sessions are provided for primary school children and far fewer for secondary school aged children.

3.2.4 Nutritional Education Sessions:

In comparing the data on clubs delivering 1-10 nutritional educational sessions in 2022; the data showed a marked increase for both primary 88.5% versus 71%) and secondary (67% versus 47%) compared to 2021. By contrast the number of clubs offering more than 10 sessions in 2022 compared to 2021 decreased (5.8% versus 16.8% for primary) and (2.3 versus 4.9% for secondary). The decline in clubs offering more than 10 sessions in 2022 may account for the parents thinking that fewer nutritional education sessions were delivered.

Table 5. Number of cooking/nutritional education sessions offered to primary school children, secondaryschool children and parents/carers (Summer 2022) n= 52 clubs

| | 0 Sessions | 1 to 10 Sessions | More Than 10 Sessions |
|---------------------------|------------|------------------|--------------------------|
| Primary School Children | 5.80% | 88.50% | 5.80% |
| Secondary School Children | 30.20% | 67.40% | 2.30% |
| Parents/carers | 50.00% | 50.00% | 0.00% |

Table 4. Number of Physical Activities sessions offered to primary school aged children, secondary schoolaged children and parents/carers (Summer 2022)

| | 0 Sessions | 1 to 10 Sessions | More Than 10 |
|---------------------------|------------|------------------|--------------|
| | | 1 10 10 0001010 | Sessions |
| Primary School Children | 7.50% | 60.40% | 32.10% |
| Secondary School Children | 31.80% | 50.00% | 18.20% |
| Parents/carers | 70.30% | 29.70% | 0.00% |

n = 53 clubs

3.2.5 Food & Meals Served:

The sustainability of the food provided was explored by asking club leaders about where they sourced food and food waste. The data for 2022 differ from the findings of the evaluation conducted in 2021 in the following ways. There is a noticeable shift from sourcing food from local supermarkets (32% in 2022 versus 58% in 2021), to a reliance on food sourced from a catering company (37% in 2022 versus 27% in 2021).



Figure 16. Where food was sourced by holiday clubs

Note: some clubs used more than one source of food provision

3.2.6. Quality of Food Served

Holiday club leaders were asked to rate the quality of the meals served on a scale of 1 (poor) to 10 (excellent). The overall median score was 8, with the majority of clubs scoring their food provision as good or excellent (Figure 17). These findings remain consistent with the findings reported in 2021, suggesting that the changes in sourcing food have not impacted on perceived food quality. In addition, we separated club leaders' ratings according to on-site versus central meal provision (Figure 18). We purposefully asked club leaders to provide a rating of meals served, rather than asking club leaders to rate meals in terms of adherence to School Food Standards, as our prior research on holiday clubs has demonstrated that club leaders often rate the food offer as excellent, even in cases where the food does not fully adhere to School Food Standards.

Figure 17. Holiday club leader's ratings of food served at clubs



Club Leader Rating of Meals Served, Summer 2022 (0=Poor to 10 = Excellent)





Comparsion of meal quality by source according to club leaders (Summer2022)

t-test mean difference (t= 4.8, 55 df, p<0.01); bars +/-1 se

Analysis showed a significant difference in perceived meal quality between centrally sourced food and food sourced by clubs (t(55), = 4.8, p < 0.01), with club food being rated significantly higher than

centrally sourced food. However, centrally sourced food provision has improved between 2021 (Mean rating = 4.9) and 2022 (Mean rating = 6.0).

3.2.7 Food Waste

In our 2021 evaluation we highlighted how managing varying attendance patterns and 'no shows' can prove complex in terms of meal provision. However, the findings of the current project (Figure 19) show that very little food is wasted, with nearly 88% of clubs reporting 'none' or 'little' wastage; an improvement compared to the 71% reported in 2021.





4. Conclusion and Recommendations for Future Delivery

Overall, Street Games were effective in engaging local organisations to deliver 'Bring it on Brum' to over 20,000 eligible children, with 75% of this population eligible for free school meals (75% FSM). Although the number of organisations delivering HAF has dropped, the number of clubs delivered between 2021 to 2022 has remained constant, as has the overall level of quality. The data, split according to primary and secondary school aged children, showed that the vast majority of attendees were primary school aged children (n =21,142) with far fewer secondary school aged children in attendance (n=4959). These data follow the same pattern as national data (Ecorys, 2022). It is particularly encouraging to see an increase in the number of schools (16%) directly engaging with Bring it on Brum, alongside an increase in SEND primary school children (11%), and a slight increase in terms of secondary provision between 2021 to 2022.

The research team merged data files across years to enable a comparison between Bring it on Brum 2021 and Bring it on Brum 2022. Our data from the parent's survey show, that for 2022, that 50% of children whom attended Bring it on Brum had not previously engaged in Bring it on Brum. Whilst this is positive, it also suggests that a number of families who attended last year, have not attended this year. Local evaluation should seek to identify reasons for the 'churn' in attendance. Our data clearly demonstrate that Bring it on Brum is reaching some of the most deprived families in Birmingham, as evidenced by the percentage of children eligible for free school meals, the percentage of families experiencing food insecurity, and the percentage of parents not in full time employment. On each of these measures the parents in the Bring it on Brum sample faired worse than the national sample, matched in terms of gross household income.

It is important to note that the high level of household food insecurity found in 2022 is worrying, particularly amongst the Bring it on Brum sample. It should be remembered that the parent's surveys were administered in September 2022 and these surveys asked parents to base their responses on the past month. Whilst household food insecurity is higher in the Bring it on Brum sample compared to the national comparator sample, the samples are not matched in terms of a number of other factors (e.g., employment, free school meal eligibility), so any direct comparisons must be taken with a degree of caution. Perhaps, more importantly, with the high percentage of households currently experiencing medium/high food insecurity it is not particularly surprising that one meal per child per day does not significantly affect food insecurity at the household level. If one meal per child, per day, alleviated household food insecurity then no household whose children received means tested free schools would be in household food insecurity. National data clearly show that this is not the case. We propose that when household food insecurity is at a low level, the © Northumbria University

addition of one meal per child, whether through free school meals or HAF provision, makes a significant difference in whether the household experiences food insecurity. However, when the level of food insecurity is medium/high, the addition of one meal per child is not enough to tip households from being food insecure to being food secure, whether the meal is provided at school or HAF. So, under conditions where the majority of households face medium/ high levels of food insecurity, HAF (like free school meals) supports families by ensuring that children receive a minimum of at least one nutritionally balanced meal per day during the school holiday period.

Unlike HAF delivery during Covid lockdowns where cold food provision was a viable option, the current cost of living crisis suggests that there may be a need to provide hot food options for children, particularly when households are experiencing so called, 'fuel poverty'. Furthermore, given the high level of household food insecurity in the Birmingham sample, clubs should try to provide more than one meal per day, either a breakfast, tea, or healthy snacks, and/or take-home food. Furthermore, as only approximately 4% of households experiencing food insecurity visit a food bank, the Council should explore ways of supporting families attending HAF in the immediate term (i.e. food provision), but also longer-term strategies (e.g. an embedded member of council staff to provide support in terms of housing, benefit claims, debt advice). Such interventions should be carefully planned by working with communities to reduce stigma.

However, Bring it on Brum, is not solely a child feeding programme. Indeed, some of the biggest impacts on children and parents are in found in terms of a) increased physical activity in children, b) raising children's aspirations, c) boosting children's confidence, d) reducing anti-social behaviours, e) reducing social isolation and g) improving mental wellbeing in parents. Clearly, Bring it on Brum offers a wide range of activities that drive positive outcomes for both parents and children.

All the key recommendations in this report result from the research findings of the current evaluation and the evaluation undertaken in 2021, in combination with the HAF+ Design Sprint workshops that involved young people from Birmingham. There may be additional learning by participating organisations and evaluations that are not captured in this evaluation. The key recommendations of this report for the future delivery of Bring it on Brum include:

Ensure that an appropriate process is in place to record reasons for non-attendance, in the case of 'no shows' and for parents who decided to no longer participate in the programme. This feedback will improve the quality-of-service provision, identify possible blockers, and will help to identify patterns that may inform future policy and practice.

- Implement recommendations from the HAF+ Design Sprint, specifically young people's recommendations for Birmingham. It is predicted, that if implemented, this will help to drive youth participation in Bring it on Brum.
- Continue with a community targeting approach to prevent stigma and drive positive outcomes at all levels by exploring how HAF could integrate with other city-wide programmes.
- During such high levels of food insecurity, consider serving mainly hot food and consider how to work in partnership with other local agencies to attenuate household food insecurity.
- Build on the excellent staff development programme delivered in 2021 and 2022.
- Consider activities that will support children and young people to return to school in the Autumn term. This is particularly important, given the educational loss many children and young people experienced during covid combined with 'summer learning loss' that disproportionally affects disadvantaged children (Shinwell & Defeyter, 2017).

References

- Afshin, A., Sur, P. J., Fay, K. A., Cornaby, L., Ferrara, G., Salama, J. S., Mullany, E. C., Abate, K. H., Abbafati, C., Abebe, Z., Afarideh, M., Aggarwal, A., Agrawal, S., Akinyemiju, T., Alahdab, F., Bacha, U., Bachman, V. F., Badali, H., Badawi, A., ... Murray, C. J. L. (2019). Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *The Lancet*, *393*(10184), 1958–1972. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30041-8
- Andrews, J., Robinson, D., & Hutchinson, J. (2017). *Closing the Gap? Trends in Educational Attainment and Disadvantage*.
- Bates, B., Jones, K., Paige, P., Roberts, C., Steer, T., & Swan. G. (2020). *National Diet and Nutrition* Survey. Roling programme Years 9 to 11 (2016/2017 to 2018/2019).
- BBC. (2019). School holiday hunger: Parents "living on cereal", says MP. https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-49162986
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). *Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners*. SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Butcher, D. (2015). The Cost of the School Holidays.
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A Global Measure of Perceived Stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 24(4), 385–396. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404
- Collard, S., Collings, D., Kempson, E., & Evans, J. (2021). Bearing the Brunt: The impact of the crisis on families with children. In *International Review of Mission*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-6631.1959.tb02420.x
- Cooper, K., & Stewart, K. (2017). Does Money Affect Children's Outcomes? An update.
- Cottell, J., Descateaux, S., & Coleman, L. (2019). Childcare Survey 2019.
- Cottell, J., & Fiaferana, K. (2018). Holiday Childcare Survey 2018.
- Crilley, E. (2021). An investigation into the "Kitchen Social" hoiday programme in terms of the operation and impacts on the wellbeing, diet and activity of service users. Northumbria University.
- Crilley, E., Brownlee, I., & Defeyter, M. A. (2022). The Diet of Children Attending a Holiday Programme in the UK: Adherence to UK Food-Based Dietary Guidelines and School Food Standards. *INternational JOUrnal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(55)
- Defeyter, M.A., Drake, L., & Bundy, D. A. P (2022). Editorial: Covid-19: School and community feeding programs for children and young people. Frontiers in Public Health. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2022.1066198</u>
- Defeyter, M.A., Finch, T., Crilley, E.S., Shinwell, J., & Mann, R. (2022). Understanding the implementation of the holiday activities and food programme in the North East of England using normalisation process theory. Available online: <u>Frontiers | Understanding the implementation of the holiday activities and food programme in the North East of England using normalization process theory (frontiersin.org)</u>

- Defeyter, M. A., Graham, P. L., & Prince, K. (2015a). A Qualitative Evaluation of Holiday Breakfast Clubs in the UK: Views of Adult Attendees, Children, and Staff. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *3*(August). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2015.00199
- Defeyter, M. A., Graham, P. L., & Prince, K. (2015b). A Qualitative Evaluation of Holiday Breakfast Clubs in the UK: Views of Adult Attendees, Children, and Staff. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *3*(August). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2015.00199
- Defeyter, M. A., Mann, E., Wonders, P., & Sabine, G. (2020). Feeding disadvantaged children during the COVID-19 pandemic. In *Journal of Health Visiting* (Vol. 8, Issue 9). www.familygateway.co.uk/
- Defeyter, M. A., Stretesky, P. B., & Long, M. A. (2019). Holiday hunger: The government must remove the inequalities in children's access to holiday clubs. *BMJ (Online)*.
- Defeyter, M. A., Stretesky, P. B., Sattar, Z., & Crilley, E. (2018a). *Evaluation of 'A Day Out , Not a Handout ' Holiday Provision Programme*. https://children-ne.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/A_Day_Out_Not_a_Handout_Final_Report_Northumbria.pdf
- Defeyter, M. A., Stretesky, P., Sattar, Z., & Crilley, E. (2018b). *Evaluation of 'A Day Out, Not a Handout' Holiday Provision Programme.*
- Department for Education. (2021a). *Holiday activities and food programme 2021*. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/holiday-activities-and-foodprogramme/holiday-activities-and-food-programme-2021
- Department for Education. (2021b). Portion sizes and food groups.
- Department for Education. (2021c). School food standards practival guide.
- Department for Work and Pensions. (2021). *Family Resources Survey: background information and methodology*. https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2019-to-2020/family-resources-survey-background-information-and-methodology
- Diss, O., & Jarvie, M. (2016). Unfinished Business: Where next for Extended Schools?
- Donkin, A., & Marmot, M. (2016). A standard of living sufficient for health, wellbeing and development. In J. Tucker (Ed.), *Improving Children's Life Chances* (pp. 49–57). CPAG.
- Dowler, E., Turner, S., & Dobson, B. (2001). *Poverty Bites: Food, health and poor families* (1st ed.). Child Poverty Action Group.
- FAO. (2015). The State of Food Insecurity in the World.
- Forsey, A. (2017a). Hungry Holidays.
- Forsey, A. (2017b). Hungry Holidays: A report on hunger amongst children during school holidays.
- Gill, O., & Sharma, N. (2004). Food Poverty in the School Holidays.
- Goisis, A., Sacker, A., & Kelly, Y. (2015). Why are poorer children at higher risk of obesity and overweight? A UK cohort study. *The European Journal of Public Health*, ckv219. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckv219

- Gooseman, A., Defeyter, M. A., & Graham, P. L. (2019a). Hunger in the primary school setting: evidence, impacts and solutions according to school staff in the North East of England, UK solutions according to school staff in the North East of England, UK. *International Journal of Primary, Elementary and Early Years Education*, 3(13), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004279.2019.1602155
- Gooseman, A., Defeyter, M. A., & Graham, P. L. P. L. (2019b). Hunger in the primary school setting: evidence, impacts and solutions according to school staff in the North East of England, UK. *Education 3-13*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004279.2019.1602155
- Goudie, S., & McIntyre, Z. (2021). The impact of covid-19 on Household food insecurity. *Food Foundation*, *19*(2), 11–23.
- Graham, P. L., Crilley, E., Stretesky, P. B., Long, M. A., Palmer, K. J., Steinbock, E., & Defeyter, M. A. (2016). School Holiday Food Provision in the UK: A Qualitative Investigation of Needs, Benefits, and Potential for Development. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 4(April 2014), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00172
- Griffiths, S. (2019). Emma Thompson: My fight to end Easter holiday hunger for 4m British school children. *The Sunday Times*.
- Harvey, K. (2016). "When I go to bed hungry and sleep, I'm not hungry": children and parents' experiences of Food Insecurity. *Appetite*, *99*, 235–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.01.004
- Holley, C. E., & Mason, C. (2019). A systematic review of the evaluation of interventions to tackle children's food insecurity. *Current Nutrition Reports*, 18.
- Holley, C. E., Mason, C., & Haycraft, E. (2019a). Opportunities and Challenges Arising from Holiday Clubs Tackling Children's Hunger in the UK: Pilot Club Leader Perspectives. *Nutrients*, *11*(1237). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11061237
- Holley, C. E., Mason, C., & Haycraft, E. (2019b). Opportunities and Challenges Arising from Holiday Clubs Tackling Children's Hunger in the UK: Pilot Club Leader Perspectives. *Nutrients*, 11(1237). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11061237
- House of Commons. (2019). *Work and Pensions and Education Committees Oral Evidence: School holiday poverty*. House of Commons.
- Hutchinson, J., Bonetti, S., Crenna-Jennings, W., & Akhal, A. (2019). *Education in England: Annual Report 2019*.
- James, M., Marchant, E., Defeyter, M. A., Woodside, J. V, & Brophy, S. (2021). Impact of School Closures on the Health and Well-Being of Primary School Children in Wales UK; A Routine Data Linkage Study Using the HAPPEN Survey (2018-2020). *The Lancet, (Pre-print* (5), 7352–7363.
- Johnson, A. D., & Markowitz, A. J. (2018). Associations Between Household Food Insecurity in Early Childhood and Children's Kindergarten Skills. *Child Development*, *89*(2), e1–e17. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12764
- The UN Convention of the Rights of the Child, The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child Tenth Report of Session 2002–03 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-89295-5_2

- Joseph Rowntree Foundation. (n.d.). UK Poverty 2022. The essential guide to understanding poverty in the UK.
- Lambie-Mumford, H., & Sims, L. (2018). *Children's experiences of food and poverty: the rise and implications of charitable breakfast clubs and holiday hunger projects in the UK.* (Issue 31).
- Long, M. A., Defeyter, M. A., & Stretesky, P. B. (2022). *Holiday Hunger in the UK: Local Responses to Childhood Food Insecurity* (1st ed.). Routledge.
- Long, M. A., Gonçalves, L., Stretesky, P. B., & Defeyter, M. A. (2020). Food insecurity in advanced capitalist nations: A review. In *Sustainability (Switzerland)* (Vol. 12, Issue 9). MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12093654
- Long, M. A., Stretesky, P. B., Defeyter, M. A., Crilley, E., & Sattar, Z. (2020). Examaning the relationship between child holiday club attendance and parental wellbeing. *ENUF Conference 2020*, 20.
- Long, M. A., Stretesky, P. B., Graham, P. L., Palmer, K. J., Steinbock, E., & Defeyter, M. A. (2017). The impact of holiday clubs on household food insecurity - A pilot study. *Health and Social Care in the Community2, September* 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12507
- Long, M. A., Stretesky, P. B., Graham, P. L., Palmer, K. J., Steinbock, E., & Defeyter, M. A. (2018a). The impact of holiday clubs on household food insecurity—A pilot study. *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 26(2), e261–e269. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12507
- Long, M. A., Stretesky, P. B., Graham, P. L., Palmer, K. J., Steinbock, E., & Defeyter, M. A. (2018b). The impact of holiday clubs on household food insecurity—A pilot study. *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 26(2), e261–e269. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12507
- Loopstra, R. (2020). Vulnerability to food insecurity since the COVID-19 lockdown Preliminary report. (Issue April).
- Loopstra, R., Reeves, A., & Tarasuk, V. (2019). The rise of hunger among low-income households: an analysis of the risks of food insecurity between 2004 and 2016 in a population-based study of UK adults. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, jech-2018-211194. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2018-211194
- Loopstra, R., & Tarasuk, V. (2015). Food Bank Usage Is a Poor Indicator of Food Insecurity: Insights from Canada. *Social Policy and Society*, *14*(03), 443–455. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1474746415000184
- Mann, E. (2019). Holiday Provision: A mixed methods investigation of holiday clubs in terms of location, implementation, delivery and impact [Northumbria University]. https://researchportal.northumbria.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/20966249/mann.emily_phd.pd f
- Mann, E., Defeyter, M. A., & Widdison, C. (2020). Implementing Holiday Provision Programmes: A Qualitative Investigation of the Experiences of Senior Stakeholders. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, (In press), 286–302.
- Mann, E., Long, M. A., Stretesky, P. B., & Defeyter, M. A. (2018). A question of justice: Are holiday clubs serving the most deprived communities in England? *Local Environment*, 0(0), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2018.1518415

[©] Northumbria University

- Marmot, M. (2010). *The Marmot Review: Fair society, healthy lives*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2012.05.014
- Martinelli, S., Acciai, F., Yedidia, M. J., & Ohri-Vachaspati, P. (2021). Do parental perceptions of the nutritional quality of school meals reflect the food environment in public schools? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(20). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182010764
- May, C., & Finch, T. (2009). Implementing, embedding, and integrating practices: An outline of normalization process theory. *Sociology*, 43(3), 535–554. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038509103208
- Morgan, K., McConnon, L., Van Godwin, J., Hawkins, J., Bond, A., & Fletcher, A. (2019a). Use of the School Setting During the Summer Holidays: Mixed-Methods Evaluation of Food and Fun Clubs in Wales. *Journal of School Health*, *89*(10), 829–838. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12824
- Morgan, K., McConnon, L., Van Godwin, J., Hawkins, J., Bond, A., & Fletcher, A. (2019b). Use of the School Setting During the Summer Holidays: Mixed-Methods Evaluation of Food and Fun Clubs in Wales. *Journal of School Health*, *89*(10), 829–838. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12824
- Morgan, K., Melendez-Torres, G., Bond, A., Hawkins, J., Hewitt, G., Murphy, S., & Moore, G. (2019).
 Socio-Economic Inequalities in Adolescent Summer Holiday Experiences, and Mental Wellbeing on Return to School: Analysis of the School Health Research Network/Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children Survey in Wales. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(7), 1107. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16071107
- National Union of Teachers. (2017). NUT Survey on holiday hunger.
- Nilsen, P. (2015). Making sense of implementation theories, models and frameworks. *Implementation Science*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-015-0242-0
- Osborne, S. (2018, December). Nearly four in five teachers say "holiday hunger" is failing to improve. *The Independent*.
- Pereira, A. L., Handa, S., & Holmqvist, G. (2017). *Prevalence and Correlates of Food Insecurity among Children across the Globe* (Issue June).
- Perraudin, F. (2018). "They hadn't eaten all day": foodbanks tackle holiday hunger. The Guardian.
- Public Health England. (2015). Childhood obesity: applying All Our Health.
- RCPCH & CPAG. (2017). Poverty and Child Health: Views from the frontline (Issue May).
- Ridge, T. (2002). Childhood Poverty and Social Exclusion: the child's perspective. The Policy Press.
- Ridge, T. (2013). 'We are All in This Together'? The Hidden Costs of Poverty, Recession and Austerity Policies on Britain's Poorest Children. *Children & Society*, *27*, 406–417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/chso.12055</u>
- Round, E. K., Shinwell, J., Stretesky, P. B., & Defeyter, M. A. (2021). An exploration of nutritional education within the Holiday Activities and Food programme in England. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. *19*, *4*, *p*., *2398*. *Available online*: IJERPH | Free Full-Text | An Exploration of Nutritional Education within the Holiday Activities and Food Programme in England (mdpi.com)

[©] Northumbria University

- Scott, C., Sutherland, J., & Taylor, A. (2018). *Affordability of the UK 's Eatwell Guide* (Issue September). The Food Foundation.
- Shinwell, J. (2019). An investigation of Holiday Club Provision: Impact on Children's Educational Attainmnet, Nutrtional Intake and Wider Familiy Benefits [Nothumbria University]. https://doi.org/.1037//0033-2909.126.1.78
- Shinwell, J., & Defeyter, M. A. (2021). Food Insecurity: A Constant Factor in the Lives of Low-Income Families in Scotland and England. 9(May), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.588254
- Shinwell, J., Finlay, E., Allen, C., & Defeyter, M. A. (2021). Holiday Club Programmes in Northern Ireland : The Voices of Children and Young People. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(1337).
- Shinwell, J. & Defeyter, M.A. (2017). Investigation of summer learning loss in the UK: Implications for holiday club provision. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *5*, 270.
- Stretesky, P. B., Defeyter, M. A., Long, M. A., Ritchie, L. A., & Gill, D. A. (2020). Holiday hunger and parental stress: Evidence from North East England. *Sustainability*, *12*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12104141
- Stretesky, P. B., Defeyter, M. A., Long, M. A., Sattar, Z., & Crilley, E. (n.d.). Holiday clubs as community organisations. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 689.
- Stretesky, P. B., Defeyter, M. A., Long, M. A., Sattar, Z. Z., & Crilley, E. (2020). Holiday Clubs as Community Organisations. *The ANALS of the American Academy of Political an Social Science*, 689(May), 129–148. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716220917657
- Taylor-Robinson, D., Lai, E. T. C., Wickham, S., Rose, T., Norman, P., Bambra, C., Whitehead, M., & Barr, B. (2019a). Assessing the impact of rising child poverty on the unprecedented rise in infant mortality in England, 2000-2017: time trend analysis. *BMJ Open*, 9(10), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029424
- Taylor-Robinson, D., Lai, E. T. C., Wickham, S., Rose, T., Norman, P., Bambra, C., Whitehead, M., & Barr, B. (2019b). Assessing the impact of rising child poverty on the unprecedented rise in infant mortality in England, 2000-2017: time trend analysis. *BMJ Open*, 9(10), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029424
- The Food Foundation. (2017). *New evidence of child food insecurity in the UK.* https://foodfoundation.org.uk/new-evidence-of-child-food-insecurity-in-the-uk/
- USDA Economic Research Services. (2020). *Survey Tools*. https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/survey-tools/#six
- Van Lancker, W., & Parolin, Z. (2020). COVID-19, school closures, and child poverty: a social crisis in the making. *The Lancet*. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30084-0